FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/9/2021 1:43 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/9/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99561-3

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 79427-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNA J. WHEELER, on behalf of herself and her minor daughter, CHASTITY YOUNGBLOOD, and as the Personal Representative of the Estates of NIKOLAS W. WEISENBACH and OMEN W. WEISENBACH,

Petitioners,

and

MARVIN G. BOCK and NADINE EVANS, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof; and MACPHERSON'S PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC., a Washington corporation;

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. Nelson Berry III WSBA No. 8851

4.	Statement of the Case		
5.	Statement of Proceedings5		
6.	Argument8		
	A.	Rice's Deposition Testimony Did Not Negate Any Issue Of Material Fact	
	В.	Rice's Deposition Testimony Did Not	

	Clearly Contradict His Declaration Opinion Which Was Formed After He Reviewed Additional Admissible Evidence9
C.	The Jury, Not The Court, Should Determine The Credibility Of A Party's Explanation For Changing His Or Her Testimony, If It Creates A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact
D.	The Court Disregarded The Eyewitness Testimony And Other Admitted Evidence Rice Considered To Form His Opinion12
E.	The Medical Examiner's Declaration Was Before The Court14
F.	Sufficient Evidence Created A Genuine Issue of Material Fact That The Broken Self-Closing Access Door Was A Cause-In-Fact Of Nikolas' And Omen's Deaths
Conclusion	
Certificate of	of Service21

#### Table of Authorities

#### Cases

# Washington Cases Berry v. Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc., 103 Wash.App. 312, 14 P.3d 789 (2000)......9, 11, 12 Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wash.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036(1997)......15, 20 Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc., 171 Wn.App. 348, 287 P.3d 51 (2012)......10 Duckworth v. Langland, 95 Wash. App. 1, 988 P.2d 967 (1998), review denied, 138 Wash.2d 1002, 984 P.2d 1033 (1999)......10, 12 Keck v. Collins, 184 Wash.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (En Banc. 2015)..8, 15, 20 Marshall v. AC & S Inc., 56 Wn. App. 181, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989)......1, 7 Martini v. Post, 178 Wash.App. 153, 313 P.3d 473(2013)......17 McCormick v. Lake Wash. Sch. Dist., 99 Wash.App. 107, 999 P.2d 511(1999).....9 Safeco Ins. v. McGrath, 63 Wash.App. 170, 817 P.2d 861 (1991).....10, 12 Sutton v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10, 180 Wash. App. 859, 324 P. 3d 763 (2014).....8

#### INTRODUCTION

This case raises important questions only this Court can resolve regarding when and how the so-called Marshall rule should be used, if at all, to exclude evidence in a summary judgment proceeding.

The so-called Marshall rule is derived from the holding in *Marshall v. AC & S Inc.*, 56 Wn. App. 181, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989). In *Marshall*, the plaintiff stated in his deposition testimony that he learned he had asbestosis in 1982. But in a later affidavit, he stated that the asbestosis was not diagnosed until 1983. The record reflected that Marshall had been diagnosed with asbestosis in 1982. Because of the clear contradiction between the plaintiff's deposition and his later self-serving affidavit, the court ruled that the deposition controlled, *Marshall v. AC & S Inc.*, 56 Wn. App. at 185:

When a party has given clear answers to unambiguous [deposition] questions which negate the existence of any genuine issue of material fact, that party cannot thereafter create an issue with an affidavit that merely contradicts, without explanation, previously given clear testimony.

#### 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Jenna Wheeler, on behalf of herself, her daughter, and the decedents' estates (collectively "Wheelers") asks for the relief designated in Part 2.

## 2. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision, filed herein on December 20, 2020, and of the Order Denying Amended Motion for Reconsideration, entered herein on February 9, 2021. Copies are attached hereto.

### 3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- A. Did Kenneth Rice give "clear answers to "unambiguous [deposition] questions which negate the existence of any genuine issue of material fact"?
- B. For purposes of the Marshall rule, what constitutes a contradiction?
- C. In a summary judgment, is the court required to consider a party's explanation of inconsistent testimony in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, to determine whether it creates a genuine issue of material fact, which must be resolved by the trier-of-fact resolve that issue?
- D. How much evidence is sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact on causation?

#### 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Jenna Wheeler petitions this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decisions (identified in #2), affirming the summary judgment dismissing her claims for the wrongful deaths of her 28 year old husband, Nikolas Weisenbach, who died while trying to rescue their four year old son, Omen, from a fire in their apartment. Both perished.

Before this fire two inspection reports had identified the broken self-closing device on the garage-dwelling door in their apartment as a building code violation, and described it as "a safety problem which posed a risk of injury or death", CP 358-359, even after Wheeler and her family began using the garage as a family room, CP 427.

The Respondents did nothing in response to the safety hazards identified in those reports. MacPherson's Property Management never repaired this self-closing device. Marvin Bock testified that when he purchased the property, he knew that the auto close mechanism for the garage access door was not closing automatically and needed adjustment, CP

445, but that he assumed the risk of not having the mechanism repaired. CP 68-70, 229, 446-450.

Bock's and Evans' purchase of this property closed on July 19, 2017. CP 138. On that very evening, after putting nine year old Chastity and four year old Omen to bed around 9 p.m., CP 18, Jenna and Nikolas hung out in their garage, which they used as a family room. CP 47-48, 50.

A fire began in the kitchen around 11:30 p.m. CP 9.

After getting Jenna and Chastity safely outside, Nickolas raced back inside to the upstairs bedroom to rescue Omen.

The Sodorffs, who lived next door, were alerted to the fire by the smell of smoke. CP 18. Robert Sodorff, and another neighbor, Matthew Ditmar, forced the garage door open. CP 19, 246-250. Sodorff and Ditmar felt a hot blast of air. There was no fire in the garage. But they did see fire from the floor to the ceiling in the kitchen area. As air from the garage rushed passed the unrepaired self-closing and self-latching garage access door into the kitchen fire, the fire quickly progressed towards them. They heard an explosion.

Sodorff then saw flames on the east side coming out of the second floor. CP 19; also CP 14.

Wheeler retained Kenneth Rice to determine the origins of this fire. Rice concluded that the fire was caused by unattended cooking. CP 13-16, 23, 44, 162, 171, 174, 184, 270. According to Rice, CP 465-466, when:

...the garage door was opened and the air was sucked from the garage into the fire past the broken selfclosing and self-latching mechanism on the door between the garage and the remaining living area of the home, the fire exploded into an inferno. Once that happened, neither Nikolas nor Omen had a chance to survive.

#### 5. STATEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS

Jenna Wheeler brought suit to recover for the wrongful deaths of her husband, Nikolas W. Weisenbach ("Nikolas") and her four year old son, Omen W. Weisenbach ("Omen") (the "Petitioners") alleging that Marvin G. Bock and Nadine Evans ("Bock"), and MacPherson's, (the "Respondents") had been negligent by failing to repair the self-closing and self-latching mechanism on the garage access door, as required by the building code, and that their negligence was a

proximate cause of the deaths of Nikolas and Omen.

On April 25, 2018, <u>before he had reviewed any other</u> <u>evidence</u>, apart from what he had gathered solely from his own investigation into the origins of this fire, CP 43-44,46, the Respondents deposed Kenneth Rice, CP 185:

Q Can you testify whether Nik and Omen were still alive or not when the exterior garage door was opened?

A No.

In response to a hypothetical question, he also testified that he did not "have any opinions on how long someone can survive without protective gear in smoke and heat". CP 185.

On October 25, 2018, after Rice had reviewed the additional evidence gathered in this case, the Respondents moved for summary judgment to dismiss the Petitioners' claims on two grounds. CP 1-329.

First, the Respondents argued that since the

Petitioners' expert, Kenneth Rice, could not <u>testify</u> whether

Nikolas and Omen were still alive when the garage door

opened, the Petitioners had no admissible evidence that they

were alive when the exterior garage door was opened, and thus could not establish that the unrepaired self-closing mechanism was a proximate cause of their deaths.

Second, the Respondents argued that their failure to comply with the building code requiring that the auto-close mechanism for the garage access door be operable was not evidence of negligence, as a matter of law, because the Petitioners used the garage as a living space.

In response to the motions for summary judgment, the Petitioners submitted the declaration of Kenneth Rice, CP 458-515, who <u>opined</u> that Nikolas and Omen were alive when the exterior garage door was opened. CP 467-468.

Relying upon *Marshall v. AC & S Inc.*, *supra*, *t*he Respondents moved to strike Rice's declaration on the grounds that it was contrary to his deposition testimony and speculative. The court struck Rice's opinion "anywhere that he opines that the victims of the fire were alive at the time the garage door was opened", and granted summary judgment on both grounds, RP 53-54, CP 522-528.

The Court of Appeals affirmed.<sup>1</sup>

#### 6. ARGUMENT

In *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wash.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (En Banc. 2015), this Court held:

We review summary judgment orders de novo, considering the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue exists as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. [citations omitted].

A genuine issue of fact exists when reasonable minds could disagree on the facts controlling the outcome of the case. <u>Sutton v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10</u>, 180 Wash. App. 859, 864-65, 324 P.3d 763 (2014).

Since the Court of Appeals did not adhere to these basic legal principles, this Court should accept review.

# A. Rice's Deposition Testimony Did Not Negate Any Issue of Material Fact.

While Rice's testimony that he was <u>unable</u> to testify (or render an opinion) as to whether Nikolas and Omen were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Since the Court of Appeals did not address the issue of whether the building code requirement was applicable. it will not be addressed here. That said, the Petitioner has **no** objection to this Court accepting and considering that issue on review.

alive when the garage door was opened, may have been probative of his ability to address that issue at the time his deposition was taken, it did **not** negate that issue of material fact, or any other.

Accordingly, the "Marshall rule" does not apply here.

B. Rice's Deposition Testimony Did Not Clearly Contradict His Declaration Opinion Which Was Formed After He Reviewed Additional Admissible Evidence.

In Berry v. Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc., 103 Wn.App. 312, 321-323, 14 P.3d 789 (2000), the Court held that for the Marshall rule to apply, the two statements must be "clearly contradictory", as opposed to merely inconsistent.

The Court of Appeals reliance upon *McCormick v. Lake Wash. Sch. Dist.*, 99 Wash.App. 107, 999 P.2d 511(1999), to conclude that "Rice's declaration statements were in flat contradiction to his deposition," (Op.p. 10), is misplaced.

In *McCormick*, 99 Wash.App. at 111-112, Laurie

McCormick did **not** even try to explain the contradiction

between her deposition testimony that she did not know

whether a District Representative, Becky Anderson, had the

apparent authority to offer her a position of employment, and her later declaration that Anderson "unequivocally" did have such authority. Accord: *Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc.*, 171 Wn.App. 348, 357, 287 P.3d 51 (2012)(no explanation).

But here, Rice did explain. When he was deposed, Rice had not seen any evidence, apart from his own investigation into the origins of this fire. After he reviewed the additional evidence gathered by others, he was able to render his opinion that Nikolas and Omen were alive when the garage door was forced open. CP 602-603. Thus, his declaration did not "flatly contradict" his deposition.

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with *Berry v. Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc., supra; Duckworth v. Langland*, 95 Wash.App. 1, 8, 988 P.2d 967 (1998), review denied, 138 Wash.2d 1002, 984 P.2d 1033 (1999); and *Safeco Ins. v. McGrath*, 63 Wash.App. 170, 174–175, 817 P.2d 861 (1991).

C. The Jury, Not The Court, Should Determine The Credibility Of A Party's Explanation For Changing His Or Her Testimony, If It Creates A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact.

Rice explained that when his deposition was taken he

could not "testify whether Nik and Omen were still alive or not when the exterior garage door was opened". He had no personal knowledge. He had not seen the evidence of others.

But <u>after</u> he reviewed that additional evidence, <u>including the eyewitness testimony of Megan Chaney and Trevor Smith</u>, and the report of Deputy Fire Marshall John Monsebroten, who identified where Omen and Nikolas were found, CP 9, he was able to <u>opine</u> that both were alive when the exterior garage door was opened. CP 602-603.

But the Court found his explanation "unpersuasive and disingenuous", and that "Rice's contention that his deposition testimony was only with regard to his personal knowledge, does not ring true". (Op. p. 11-12).

Given the fact that the Court conceded that the same additional evidence created a genuine issue of fact regarding Nickolas, Op. pp.14-15, its disdain was unwarranted.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning, including weighing the evidence and determining credibility, is in conflict with Berry v. Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc., 103 Wash.App. at 322;

Duckworth v. Langland, 95 Wash.App. at 8; Safeco Ins. v. McGrath, 63 Wash.App. at 174–175, where the Courts recognized that a party's explanation must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. If that view creates an issue of material fact, then that issue must be resolved by the trier-of- fact---not the court.

This Court should accept review and hold it is the province of the jury---not the court ---in a summary judgment proceeding to determine whether someone's explanation as to why their testimony changed "rings true".

## D. The Court Disregarded The Eyewitness Testimony And Other Admitted Evidence Rice Considered To Form His Opinion.

The trial judge ruled that Rice was entitled to "factor in additional information as it becomes available". RP 52-53, and the Court of Appeals acknowledged that Rice "gave his deposition before reading the declarations of Cheney or Smith', Opinion p, 11). Yet both courts disregarded Rice's explanation of how this evidence informed his opinion.

Megan Chaney declared, CP 517:

Moments after we got to the slider door of the Wheeler/ Weisenbach residence, the fire seemed to just explode. What had been a relatively small fire confined primarily to the kitchen area had suddenly and unexpectedly turned into a massive fire enveloping the entire unit.

When I looked up I could again see Nik in the children's upstairs bedroom. He was standing at the upstairs window. The window was open. He looked scared. Now there was some fire in that upstairs bedroom. Trevor, and other people who had gathered below that window, yelled repeatedly for Nik to jump. But, after standing there for a few seconds, Nik turned and went back into the bedroom. I heard him scream...

Similarly, Trevor Smith declared, CP 520:

What I do remember is that just when I got to the slider door of the Weisenbach/Wheeler residence, the fire suddenly erupted from being nothing much at all to an inferno. The heat forced me to back up. When I looked up I saw Nik in the second floor children's bedroom window. I was surprised that the fire had reached the second floor so quickly. It was engulfed in flames.

I then saw Nik extend his arms out of the upstairs bedroom window. I started yelling for him to jump. Nik stood there for a few moments, and then turned around and went back in.

The eyewitness testimony of Chaney and Smith coupled with Monsebroten's findings that:

(1) Nikolas opened the second floor bedroom window before

the exterior garage door was opened, CP 14, and that (2) the fire did not reach the second floor before the exterior garage door was opened, CP 480, establish beyond any doubt that Nikolas was alive when the exterior garage door was opened.

Omen was found face down in his bedroom doorway.

CP 125, 274. Even the trial court judge found that this admitted evidence created a reasonable inference that Omen was alive after Nicolas entered his bedroom, RP 52:

And then we have the position of the child's body. I'm going to speak to that. I don't think that we can know what happened there, but I don't adopt the analysis or the certainty that the child was lying there when the father entered the room. And – any other possibility could've happened, but I think the idea that he didn't see him because the smoke was there – in the, again, looking at the inferences for the plaintiff – doesn't make sense that he wouldn't trip over the child or fall into the child.

# E. The Medical Examiner's Declaration Was Before The Court.

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, RP 52, took
the position that Wheeler could not prove that Nikolas and
Omen were alive before the exterior garage door was opened
because the medical examiner had opined that both had died

from toxic asphyxia due to smoke inhalation, (Op. p.13).

Even MacPherson agrees this was error, Brief, p. 25:

On this point, MacPherson agrees: death by toxic asphyxiation does not eliminate the possibility that death occurred after the exterior garage door was opened.

But as the trial judge stated, evidence that the decedents died from "burning" would have changed her analysis, RP 51, since the fire did not reach the second floor until <u>after</u> the garage door was forced opened, CP 480.

The Medical Examiner declared he could "not rule out that thermal injury [i.e. burning] may have also been a contributing cause of their deaths---particularly in the case of Omen Weisenbach", CP 566.

Contrary to the Court's Opinion (Op. p. 13 fn.6), the Medical Examiner's declaration was before the court. The court denied the motion for reconsideration without ruling on its admissibility. CP 618. The declaration could not be rejected, without the court first considering the factors set forth in *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)on the record, which it did not do. *Keck v.* 

Collins, 184 Wash.2d at 374.

But even without this declaration, Monsebroten found that "[b]oth victims had extensive burns incompatible with life...". CP 9. It is also reasonable to infer from Chaney and Smith, CP 517, 520, that Nikolas' screams were more likely caused by burning, than smoke inhalation. CP 599-600.

But once again, the Court disregarded this evidence.

F. Sufficient Evidence Created A Genuine Issue of Material Fact That The Broken Self-Closing Access Door Was A Cause-In-Fact Of Nikolas' And Omen's Deaths.

The Court conceded that "taking the circumstantial evidence in the light most favorable to the Wheelers, a reasonable juror could conclude that Nikolas was still alive when the neighbors forced open the exterior garage door", Op. pp.14-15, but then ruled that Wheeler could not show that the broken mechanism on the garage access door was a cause-in-fact of Nikolas' and Omen's deaths (Op. p. 14):

Specifically, there was not sufficient evidence that: (1) Omen was alive before the exterior garage door was open and (2) had the self-closing door functioned properly, either Nicolas or Omen would have been able to safely exit the property and more likely than not would have survived.

But yet again, the Court disregarded the evidence.

(1) Even the trial judge concluded that, based on the position of the bodies, CP 9, there was a reasonable inference that Omen was alive when his father entered his bedroom. RP 52.

And (2) just as in *Martini v. Post*, 178 Wash.App. 153, 159, 166, 313 P.3d 473 (2013), there is ample evidence from which a reasonable juror could infer that Nikolas and Omen would probably have survived had the self-closing door functioned properly. Ken Rice declared (CP 606-607):

At the risk of being repetitive, it is my professional opinion, on a more probable than not basis, that Nikolas and Omen would be alive today, but for the broken and unrepaired self-closing and self-latching mechanism on the garage access door. This is the reason it was called out as a safety hazard in both inspection reports even after the Wheeler/Weisenbach family began using the garage as a living space.

If it had been functioning properly, no air would have come into this kitchen fire when the garage door opened.<sup>2</sup> What happened here when the garage door opened was a completely predictable and foreseeable consequence of not having this mechanism repaired

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court disregarded the undisputed evidence that *if* the self-closing and self-latching mechanism on the garage access door had been repaired, i.e. "up to code", the fire would have been unaffected by the opening of the exterior garage door. The garage access door would have been closed. No additional air could have come into the kitchen.

and functioning properly.

.... That broken mechanism allowed a tremendous influx of air to rush into this kitchen fire when the garage door was opened, which in turn substantially increased its size and intensity, its smoke and toxic gases, which in turn reduced oxygen levels on the second floor, and was thus a proximate cause of their deaths. In my professional opinion, this broken mechanism was a proximate cause of their deaths.

Rice opined it would have taken 3-4 minutes for this fire to become fatal to anyone on the second floor if this mechanism had worked properly, CP 595. Coupled with Richard Carmen's expert opinion that it would have taken Nikolas "probably ten seconds" to get from the slider door to the upstairs bedroom, CP 511-512, Rice opined (CP 468):

In my professional opinion, if this mechanism had been working properly, Nikolas would have had ample time to rescue Omen. Both would have survived....

Unfortunately, that 3-4 minute window was cut short when the garage door was opened because the self-closing mechanism on the garage access door had not been repaired.

But once again, the Court disregarded this evidence.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court has never previously addressed what the

appropriate application of the so-called Marshall rule is in summary judgment proceedings. Accordingly, this Court should accept review and hold:

- 1. The Marshall rule does **not** apply <u>unless</u> the party gave "clear answers to unambiguous [deposition] questions which negate the existence of any genuine issue of material fact". Rice's deposition testimony did **not** "negate the existence of any genuine issue of material fact".
- 2. For the Marshall rule to apply, the statements must be "clearly contradictory". Rice's statements are not.
- 3. If a party's explanation of seemingly inconsistent testimony is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party creates a genuine issue of material fact, then that issue of fact must be resolved by the trier-of-fact.
- 4. Rice's opinion that Nickolas and Omen were alive when the garage door was opened should not have been stricken. But his opinion was not the only evidence. Both courts below found that there is a genuine issue of material fact on this issue, but then disregarded their own findings.

- 5. Since the lower court denied the motion for reconsideration, without ruling on the admissibility of the Medical Examiner's declaration, or engaging in a *Burnet* analysis on the record, as required by *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wash.2d at 374, it was before the court.
- 6. This Court should find that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether either Nicolas or Omen would have been able to safely exit the property and survive if the self-closing door had functioned properly---an issue which must be resolved by the trier-of-fact---not the court.

This Court should accept review to address the questions raised here, which only this Court can resolve, regarding when and how the so-called Marshall rule should be used, if at all, to exclude evidence in a summary judgment proceeding.

It should then reverse and remand this case for trial.