FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/8/2021 8:54 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99561-3

Court of Appeals No. 79427-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNA J. WHEELER, on behalf of herself and her minor daughter, CHASTITY YOUNGBLOOD, and as the personal representative of the ESTATES OF NIKOLAS W. WEISENBACH and OMEN W. WEISENBACH, Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

MARVIN G. BOCK and NADINE EVANS, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof; and MACPHERSON'S PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC., a Washington corporation, Defendants-Respondents.

Appeal from the Superior Court for King County
The Honorable Barbara Linde

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The petition for review does not discuss RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review.

RAP 13.4(b) states the considerations governing acceptance of review. That rule says

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Plaintiff's petition for review does not discuss RAP 13.4(b) and does not identify which considerations purportedly support granting review. That is sufficient reason to deny the petition for review.

B. The Court of Appeals' ruling striking expert witness Rice's contradictory deposition testimony about whether Nikolas survived until the exterior garage door opened was not instrumental to the court's affirming summary judgment.

Several decisions from the Court of Appeals have held that a party may not create a genuine issue of material fact by opposing a motion for summary judgment with declaration testimony that, without explanation, contradicts testimony given previously at deposition. *See, e.g., Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc.*, 171 Wn. App. 348, 357, 287 P3d 51 (2012); *Berry v. Crown Cork & Seal, Inc.*, 103 Wn. App. 312, 321, 14 P.3d 789 (2000), *rev. den.*, 143 Wn.2d 1015 (2001); *McCormick v. Lake Washington School District*, 99 Wn. App. 107, 111, 992 P.2d 511 (1999). Plaintiff argues the Court of Appeals misapplied that rule in affirming the trial court's order striking expert witness Rice's declaration testimony that, in his opinion, Nikolas and Omen survived until the exterior garage door was opened. Rice's declaration testimony contradicted his previous deposition testimony that he could not testify to whether Nikolas and Omen had survived until the exterior garage door was opened:

Q: Can you testify whether Nik and Omen were still alive or not when the exterior garage door was opened?

A: No.

(CP 185.)

At his deposition, Rice also testified he had no opinion about how long someone can survive in a fire without protective gear:

Q: Do you have any opinions how long someone can survive without protective gear in smoke and heat?

A: No.

(CP 185.)

10

But Rice's declaration submitted in opposition to MacPherson's motion for summary judgment contradicted (without explanation) that testimony, stating "In my professional opinion, if this mechanism had been working properly, Nikolas would have had ample time to successfully recuse Omen. Both would have survived." (CP 468.)

The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court properly struck

Rice's contradictory testimony. Plaintiff asks this Court to grant review

for the purpose of reviewing that aspect of the Court of Appeals' decision.

But plaintiff does not explain that the issue she wants reviewed is not squarely presented in this case. It is true the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order striking the portion of Rice's declaration that contradicted his earlier deposition testimony that Nikolas and Omen survived until the exterior garage door was opened. But plaintiff fails to note that the Court of Appeals also found sufficient circumstantial evidence from other sources to create a genuine issue of material fact whether Nikolas survived until the exterior garage door was opened. In other words, striking Rice's deposition testimony about whether Nikolas survived until the exterior garage door opened did not lead to affirming the summary judgment against his claim arising from his death. Instead, the problem was the absence of evidence Nikolas could have escaped the apartment even if he survived until the exterior garage door opened.

Furthermore, plaintiff argues at length that Rice's contradictory testimony should not have been stricken because he explained that he changed his testimony after considering the testimony from witnesses Megan Chaney and Trevor Smith. But their testimony pertained to only whether Nikolas was alive when the exterior garage door opened. It added no new facts that would justify changing his testimony about whether Omen survived until the exterior garage door opened. And the Chaney and Smith testimony added no new information that would allow Rice to form an opinion about whether Nikolas and Omen could have escaped the fire even if they had survived until the exterior garage door opened.

Furthermore, the trial court excluded Rice's opinions for additional, alternative reasons: the opinions were conclusory, unsupported, and outside his expertise. (RP 51-53.) "The trial court has wide discretion in ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony." *Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wn. App. 137, 155, 241 P.3d 787 (2010), *rev. den.*, 171 Wn.2d 1004 (2011) (footnote omitted). The trial court's ruling will not be disturbed if the reasons for admitting or excluding the opinion evidence are fairly debatable. *Id.* "It is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." *Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath*, 63 Wn. App. 170, 177, 817 P.2d 861 (1991), *rev. den.*, 118 Wn.2d 1010 (1992) (footnote omitted).

Because the testimony was stricken for reasons in addition to it being contradictory with the deposition testimony, this case is a poor vehicle for raising the issue plaintiff asks this Court to consider.

In summary, the rule about whether contradictory declaration testimony can be used to create a genuine issue of material fact is not presented by this case, making review on that basis inappropriate.

C. The Court of Appeals did not ignore the testimony of witnesses Chaney and Smith.

Plaintiff argues the Court of Appeals erred by ignoring testimony from witnesses Megan Chaney and Trevor Smith. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals discussed and quoted that testimony (App. 5) and presumably relied on it in finding the circumstantial evidence raised a genuine issue of material fact whether Nikolas survived until the exterior garage door opened. (App. 14-15.)

D. The Court of Appeals did not consider the medical examiner's second declaration because it was submitted to the trial court in support of plaintiff's motion for reconsideration, and plaintiff's appeal brief did not properly present any claim of error regarding the motion for reconsideration.

Plaintiff argues the Court of Appeals erred by failing to consider a medical examiner's declaration plaintiff filed in support of her motion for reconsideration. (CP 565.) Plaintiff argues that both the trial court and the Court of Appeals abused their discretion by failing to consider the

13

declaration without performing the analysis purportedly required by *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

This argument fails for several reasons. The first reason is that the argument was not preserved. Plaintiff did not make this argument in either her opening appeal brief or her reply appeal brief in the Court of Appeals. Therefore, it was waived. *Wells v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 100 Wn. App. 657, 683, 997 P.2d 405 (2000) (refusing to consider argument raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration).

Furthermore, the trial court did not refuse to consider the declaration. The order denying reconsideration says the court "reviewed and considered Plaintiffs' motion to reconsider[.]" (CP 618.)

Finally, plaintiff misunderstands why the Court of Appeals declined to consider the medical examiner's declaration. Plaintiff's problem is that she failed to properly support her assignment of error regarding the denial of her motion for reconsideration. Her failure to specifically address the trial court's order denying reconsideration resulted in a waiver of any arguments regarding that issue. Because plaintiff waived any argument about denial of her motion for reconsideration, there was no reason for the Court of Appeals to consider evidence first submitted to the trial court in support of the motion for reconsideration.

Thus, it is not a question of the trial court refusing to consider the declaration; instead, the problem is that plaintiff failed to properly brief the issues related to denial of her motion for reconsideration. Because of that failure, the Court of Appeals properly declined to consider evidence that was submitted to the trial court only in connection with the motion for reconsideration. *Christian v. Tohmeh*, 191 Wn. App. 709, 728-29, 366 P.3d 16 (2015), *rev. den.*, 185 Wn.2d 1035 (2016).

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny plaintiff's petition for review.